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ROSALIE HANKEY, being sworn, deposes a‘{fi says Zs follows-

I am a graduate student of anthropology and am presently employed v 7‘//*
7 o

the Department of Anthropology in the University of Chicago as Assistant /L: /
in Anthropology. In July of 1943 I entered the employ of the Evacuation
and Résettlanent Study of the University of California at Berkeley,
California. At this timeI was 31 years old.

This Study was an organization cspecially set up by the University of
California with funds donated by the Giannini and Rockefeller Foundations
to observe and record from the sociological’ standpoint the evacuation of
persons of Japanese ancestry from the Pacific Coast ordered by Lieutenant
General John L, DeWitt and the social phenomena which resulted therefrom.
This Study was under the direction of Dr, Dorothy S, Thonas, a professor
at the University of California, The Study employed a number of students
of sociology and anthropology who acted as observers in the several assembly
centers and relocation centers and also employed students of Japanese
a:_mestry, who thenselves were evacuated, to act as reporters, I was at
first asslgned by Dr, Thomas to the Gila Relocation Center and began my
work there in July of 1943, The nature of ny duties there included the
recording of events and evacuee attitudes, and the prepardion of reports
describing and analysing the sociological phenomena. On February 1, 1944,
after seven months of almost continuous residence at the Gila Center, I was
directed by Dr. Thdmas to visit the Tule Lake Center in llodoc, California
to make a preliminary survey of the attitudes of the segregated evacuees,
Approximately three weeks before this visit, the jurisdiction of the Tule
Lake Center had been returned to the War Relocation Authority by the Military.
At this visit I remained at the Tule Lake Center for two days. I made two
succeeding visits to the Tule Lake Center: from March 14 to March 23, 1944,
and from April 12 to Anril 17, 1944, Between these visits I returned to the
Gila Center. On May 13 of 1944 I took up permanent study in the Tule Lake
Center and remained there until iay 9, 1945, except for three brief trips to
consult with Dr, Thomas, Therefore, I observed substantially all of the
sociological developments leading up to the renunciation of citizenship and

was at the Tule Lake Center during most of the remunciations themselves,




During all of this time, by the technigues described below, I assembled

very full field notes on the renunciation program and submitted these te

the Evacuation and Resettlement Study. I also submitted voluminous renerts
on evacuee attitudes toward reaunciation, The Universitr of California has
recently published the first volume of its studies, which volume relates
specifically to those evacuees who renounced their citizenship. The bock
was put into fiaal form by Dr. Dorothy S. Thomas and Richard Nishimoto,
ho was the Study's observer in the Coloado River Relocation Center.
To the best of my kmowledge and belief, insofar as it deals with eventstalring
nlace at the Tule Lake Center after segregation, this book is based entireiy en
my field notes and the manuscripts wiich I submitted, except for certain
information gained after the renunciation program had been comnleted from
talks with evacuees who were there at the time and from letters written
by evacuees after the renunciation program was complete.

For the above reasons and because of the technigques employed by ne,
hereinafter described, it is my belief that I am qualified to speak as an
expert on the social pressures obtaining within the Tule Lake Center prior
to and during the renunciation program from December 1944 through May 1945,

I obtained information for my field notes in the following manner:

The accumulation of data on evacuee attitudes presented many diffi-
culties to a person of Caucasian ancestry. The experiences of evacuation
and. the confining life of the Centers had intensified the pre-evacuation
in-group solidarity of the Jananese residents, The WRA administration and
its staff members, the visible representatives of authority, were commoanly
held responsible by the evacuees for the great variety of incoaveniences,
annoyvances, and hardships of Center life. Therefore, the WRA staff, in
general was regarded with considerable antipathy. The strong in—-group
sentiments of the Japanese and their dislike of the WRA administration
were, in part, responsible for an additional phenomenon which ingreased
the difficulties eof sociological investigation, This was an extraordinarily
powerful evacuee fear of being considered a stool-pigeon. This fear was
coupled with a hatred of persons alleged to be stool-pigeons, i.e.,

traitors to their own people. Such persons were called inu, a Japanese
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word meaning dog or informer, Any evacuee who appeared to be on markedly
friendly terms with a Caucasian staff member or was observed visiting the
Administration buildings when he had no specific business there exposed
himself to being called an inu.

The iny phenomenon was a potent means of social control in all of the

Centers of which I have knowledge. In Tule Lake it played a very signifi-
cant part in the sociological developments which preceded the renunciation
of citizenship, It was largely responsible for the fact that terrorists
and persons guilty of violent assault were not denounced to the authorities,
To be stigmatized as an inu brought social ostracism which in the crowded
and confined life of the Centers was painful in the extreme. All meals
were served in public mess-halls, &n alleged inu, seating himself at a
table, was greeted with an uncomfortable silence and meaningful glances.
If he entered a latrine or boiler room, which were common places for gossip
and discussion, he found that friendly talk or argumeni: stopped with his
appearance, Because of the lack of privacy which Center conditions imposed,
he could find no escape and was reminded of his despieed position many times
every day. During a period of tension, he might be assaulted and severely
beaten. In the Tule Lake Center at least seven men alleged to be inu were
beaten. In the same Center, Mr, Hitomi, alleged to be an inu, was murdered.
If, therefore, an evacuee or a segregee held opinions contrary to those
which were considered the prevailing - . sentiment, he was strongly
inclined to keep these opinions to himself or to voice them only to trusted
intimé.tes. He was also inclined to avoid the appearance of intimacy with
WRA staff members.

I was able to substantially overcome the handicaps %o sociological

-

investigation outlined above in the following manner, To my infomants

4 I stressed the fact that I was not a member of the WRA administration but

a student, hired by scholars who were interested in preparing an accurate
account -of events within the Japanese Centers. I stated that I wouldnot
show my data to:thé WBA administration and would not reveal ‘the names of my inform-

ants.These contentions were ndt believed until my informants had the opportunity

to observe that I had - little association with WRA staff members and
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that I did not attempt to pry into those matters which evacuess were
roluctant to discuss with a Caucasian., In theo Gila Relocation Center I
began my field work by initiating a series of innocuous investigations, e.g.,
how Center 1life was affecting the children, This and similay projeets gave me
the opportunity to make frequent visits to the apartments of evacuess.

After this program had been continued for several months, cortain informants
made overtures of friendship. They then began to give me an informal
gducation on the genuine attitudes of the residents which often differsd
greavly from the steresotyped attitudes gemerally reserved
for Caucasians., I gained intimate kmowledge of those matters vhich a

momber of the in-group was morally obliged not to reveal to outsiders. When
certain of these friendly informants began to give me a considerable amount
of their time, I offered to pay them. This offer was refused. The situa-
tion which resulted put me under an ethical obligation. I was obtaining
information through friendship and I had no means of retompensing informants
excapt by rigorously observing the taboos of the in-group, i.e,, keeping

my promise that I would reveal no information given to me, This process
was cumulative and, in time, I was given information of an extraordinary
naturQ. In Tule Lake a self-avowed ardently pro-Japanese group determined
to circulate one of their petitions without asking permission of the WRA
administration., They feared that they would be denied permission, since

a few weeks before, the WRA had emphatically informed them that it did not
intend to embark on the program they sponsored. ; . One of

the most influential leaders of the group sponsoring the petition, allowed
me to read it several da&s before it was circulated and described the
pressure his group intended %o apply to residents who did not wish to sign,
In Tule Lake evacuee informants also gave me the name of the man who was

alleged to control a gang of terrorists. This gang, I was told, had

comnitted a series of assaults upon the so—called inu (stoolaﬁigeons).

These informants did not give this information to the WRA administration
or, so far as I know, to the police. Moreover, a Japanese informant who
wes severely beaten, assured me that the aforementioned gang of terrorists

was responsible for the assault. Previously, he had refused to name his
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assailants to the WRA Internal Security. I.4id not reveal this, and much other
information of similar character, to the authorities, Because of this policy

I was able to obtain data which, I believe, far exceeds in accuracy and
reliability the infomation gained by most Caucasians who were in contact

with the Japanese in the Centers.

———

I was, moreover, able to develop excellent rapport with certain leaders

of the pro-Japancse pressure groups. The parent pressure group I shall call
the Resegregation Group., It was also known at various times as the Saikakuri
Scigan and the Sokuji Kikoku Hoghi-dan. Mcmbership‘in this group was by
families., To the best of my knowledge, a2dult alicns and citizens and also
minor children were considered members. In August of 1944 this body sponsored
an auxiliary body for young men. This auxiliary body I shall call the Yowmng
Men's Fatherland Group, It was also called at various times the Sokoku
Kenkyu Seinen—dan and tho Hokoku Seinen-dan, Most of the members of this
auxiliary body were to the best of my knowledge citizens of the United States.
From May of 1944 until his intcrmment in Decembor of 1944 I was a regular
visitor at the apartment of the man who, in my opinion, was the most influent-
jal leader of the Resegregation Group., He was also one of the two advisors

to the Young Men's Fatherland Group and was an Issei. From July of 1944 wntil
his internment in December of 1944 I frequently visited the other advisor to
the Young Men's Fatherland Group who was a Nisei about 45 years old. This
man was also alleged to be the leader of a gang of terrorists who assaulted
persons who criticized either of the groups. I was also very well acquainted
with and frequently visited four additional influential leaders of these
groups. I was casually acquainted with others.

In this document it will be cumbersome to state specifically whether an
informant was a member of ome or the other group. The organizations were most
intimately related and many or most of the members of the Young Men's Father-
land Group werc members of the Resegregationist Group. On the other hand,
older men, almost all of whom were Issei, advised the Young Men's Fatherland
Group and, in my opinion, formed most of the policies of this vouths' organimtin.

In addition I also developed good rapport with the chairman and other
members of the body which was responsible for the much publicized demonstration
of November 1, 1943, Many of these men later became very hostile to the
aforementioned Resegregation Group.
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In addition to the persons described above I consulted a large number

of other informants, some of whom were hostile to the Resegregation Group,
some of whom disapproved of the group, and some of whom attempted to remain
neutral. Some of these informants were nominal members of the Resegregation
Group and some were not, Among my informants were Issei, Nisei and Kibei,

I was, in fact, the only Caucasian who, in substance, made daily visits to
the apartments of the Japanese residents of Tule Lake Center. I was also
one of the very few who regularly entered the Center on foot and without an
escort,

Maintaining contact with my informants in the face of the prevailing
evacuee fear of being thoughtan inu required much tact and patience. I
carefully arranged my visits so that I would not be observed by neighbors,
I paid many visits during inclement weather when most of the residents
remained indoors, The frequent severe dust storms, the bitter winter winds,
and the thaws which rendered parts of the Center nearly impagsable to a
person not wearing heavy boots, provided ample opportunity for such visits,
During veriods of extreme community tension and fear, such as that which
followed the murder of Mr, Hitomi, I corresponded with informants, In
fact,~after this murder one of my informants warned me to stay out of
the center because the alleged gang leader had boasted that he intended
to kill a Caucasian, and I, who eantered the remote parts of the Center
without escort, was particularly vulnerable. In my opinion, the fact
that Tule Lake was a large community and that, except for the Resegregation
Group it was socially disorganized to the extent that residents were
inclined to confine their social activities to the blocks in or near
which they lived, gave me a distinct advantage., Informants, in general,
had little opportunity to discover who my other contacts were. I
revealed no names, If,therefore, I visited an ardent member of the

Rescgregation Group and appeared to sympathize with his views,




he had little oppertunity to discover that when I visited an individual
who was hostile to the group, I gave the contrary impression. This was
particularly important in regard %o my contacts with the Resegregation
Group leaders. Had my ordinary informants realized that I was on good
terms with these pewerful individuals, I would have gained little reliable
data on how ordinary folk viewed the activities of the Resegregatienists,
The greater part of my field notes were taken down in approximately

verbatim form, Wien the statemonts of evacuees appear in this document,

they are repreduced, substantially without editing.

I intend to describs those sociological phenomena which I observed
in the Tule Lake Center which bear on the renmunciation of citizenship,
Insofar as my data indicate, I shall state my ovinions in regard to the
motivations which led the citizen residents of Tule Lake to commit this

act., Sinee I am of the opinion that the activities of the aforementioned

et

Resegregation Group had an immortant bearing on the renunciation of citizen-
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ship, I shall present the history of the development of this group in
considerable detail, Thig, in turn, will require a brief exmlanation of
the sociological developments in the Tul» Lake Centor which preceded the
formal organization of the Resegregation Group, '

I was residing in the Gila Relocation Centor when the poliey of
segrogation was announced to the evacuses in the summer of 1943, What
data I obtained in the Gila Center in no way contradicts the discussion
of segregation presented by Dr, Thomas and 2, Nishimoto in The Spoilage
(pn. 84-112) or the analysis presented by the WRA Community Analyst,

Dr, Morris Opler, in WRA Community &nalysis, "Studies of Segregants at

" These authoritiss in substance hold that the roasons svacueecs

Hanzanar.

decided to become segregants and thereby assume the status of individuals

disloyal to the United Statecs were: fear of being forced to leave the

Ocnters and face a hostile American public; concern for the socurity of

their families; fear on the part of evacuee parents that their sons

e

would be drafted if they did not become segregees; anger and disillusion-

mont owing to tho abrogation of their citizenship rights; bitterncss over
—_—

osconomic losses brougat about by the evacuation, I was also told by a
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Japanese informant thét some Issei believed that Japan was going to win the
war and that they would eventually reap benefits if they went to Tule Lake,
Most of the segregees entered the Tule Lake Center in September and

October of 1943, Ther were at this time far from homogeneousin status
(loyal or disloyal) and in sentiment toward the United States, In
segregation movement children who held status és loyal citizens of

United States wer~ allowed to accompany segregec parents, Pareats

status as aliens loyal to the United States werec allowed to accompany
segregee children, Moreover, over 1,000 pre-segregation residents, of

/V/ af/ Tul- Lake ineligible for segregation refused to leave that Center and were

allowved to remain therse. Therefore, at one extrems of the population
were individuals who, when I made their acquaintance in Tule Lake, voiced
séntimants which wore decidedly pro—Japanese., At the other extreme, in
my opinion, was a significant proportion of the population which had no
intention of going to Japan and felt no sentiments resembling loyalty to
Japan whatever. Between thesc two extremcs was the bulk of the population --
the fence-sitters. Such persons, when I made their acquaintance, told me
that they had come %o or remained in Tule Lake to make un their minds,
In my opinion, they did not look upon segregation as a final step committing
thom to inevitable expatriation or repatriation., Informants belonging to
this group repsatcdly nade statements to me which may be paraphrased as
follows: A1l I want is that thev let me stay here in peace until the end

It is my opinion that these persons regarded Tule Lake as a

//rofuge wiere they might remain in relative safety from the economic hardships

/

<\\ and physical danger which thoy feared would be their lot if they attempted

| immediately to re-cstablish themselves in the United States,

It should be strossed that the groups described above werc not static.
Individuals and gr&ups vacillated cenetemtly as they were swayed by eovents,
nows, and rumors, A resented administrative policy or a newspaner report
of an assault upon Japancse rosiding outside of the Centers would, for a
neriod of time, increase the number of evacuces who belisved that the

United Statos held no futurc for them, This vacillation was one of the more

gsalient socisl phenomena of Center life, Many of the phenomena hereinafter
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described cannot be evaluated properly unless it is kept in mind. ==
Prolonged insecurity and indecision may unbalance even individuals who
possess great mental stability., In view of the fact that the substantial
majority of the residents of Tule Lake had been in a state of indecision
for almost four years, it is not surprizing that they believed fantastic

rumors, that they frequently did not think or act logically, that they

were prone to take what appeared $he-immediate path to safety, and that

they were predisposed to fall into mass anxiety which on several occasions

rose to panic.
v
I did not visit the Tule Lake Center until February 1, of 1944,

Consequently, I was not residing there when the events I shall outline

briefly below took place. My statements are based on a great deal of

data acquired after my arrival and on WRA documents.

/" 1t is my opinion that the demonstration of November 1, 1943 resulted
substantially from a widespread evacuee sentiment that the living facil-

: ities in Tulec Lake stood in great need of improvement. The listing of
these alleged griecvances would require many pages. On October 15, 1943,
‘a truck transporting Japanese workers to the project farm turned over,
Some 30 men were injured, several severely, One died within a few days,
The Japanese farm workers refused to return to work, The residents,
under the guidance of leaders who had attained some prestige in the
Relocation Centers from which they had come, selected a Reprecscntative
Body. This body determined to use the farm work stoppage as a mecans of

obtaining a mitigation of the grievances roferred to above. I am of the




opinion that at this time the Japaness Ropresontative Body had strong
support from the general residents,

On October 26, 1943, cortain membors of this Representative Body
approached the Projéct Director, stating that the farmers weres resolved

to continus their work stoppage until the administration gave assurance
that the complaints of the residents would reccive attention,
time, onlr the farmers had stopped work., The Project Diroctor promised
to do what he could to relieve the situation, EHowever, without acquainting
the Representative Body or the residents with his intention, the Project
Jirector brought in non~segregec Japanecsc from the Reolocation Centers to

e crop, <his action on the part of the Project Director deprived
tie residcnts of their only important bargaining point: the fact that the
veluable potato crop would spoil with great loss if not harvested immediately,

Morcover, it is my opinion that this action was viewed by the segrogecs

as a breach of trust on the mwrt of the Administration, I believe that it

o~
\\~greatly incres rogee hostility against the WRA administration,

943, lr, Dillon Myer, National Dircctor of the WRA,
“ule Lake Center., Beizing this opportunity to appeal directly
to hinm, the leaders of the Representative Body engincered a massdemonstra-
tion during which a crowd of segregecs, variously sstimated at from 5,000
to 10,000 surrounded the administrative buildings. According to WRA
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documonts the behavier of this crowd was most orderly., Xowever, a group

of young Japancse cntercd the hospital, They attacked and scverely beat
tho Caucasian Chiof lledical Officer, who, in my opinion, was extremely
unpopular with the Japancse residents, It is my opinion that these
assailants had no connection with the loaders of the Japanesc Reoresentative
3ody. Waen order had been restored, tho leaders of the Representative Body
again presonted tho list of the resideonts' griovances., Yr, liyor promised
Yo investigate the complaints and take action if they were jﬁstified. Ho
nade such a statem nt to the crowd which thon disnersed quistly.

On the night of November 4, 1943, a fight broke out between a group
of woung Javancse men and a few Caucasians. Later, a Japancse informant

4% + -
1

t0ld mec that he had bsen the lsader of this group of Japanese, Hc stated
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that this group had taken it upon themselves to watch the project warehouses
at night in oPder to prevent the WRA administration from transporting food
to the harvesters from the Relocation Centers., It is my opinion that this
informant in this regard was telling the truth, While this fight was
taking place, the Project Director requested the assistance of the Military
Police. The Military assumed control of the Center. On the night of
November 4 the Military arrested 18 young men found in the administration
area, released 9 of them and confined the remainder,

Many informants told me later that on the night of November 4 they
were not aware of the fact that the Military had assumed control of the
Center, and that they set out for work the next moming as usual. This
statement is credible for the evacuee residence section was at a consider-
able distance from the administrative section. In any case, a large numboe
of evacuees approached the administrative section on November 5 at the
beginning of the working day. They were probably joined by the relatives
of the Jépanese hospital staff, which had not been allowed to return to
the Japanese section by the Military., These persons were met by a cordon
of soldiers and told to return to their barracks. When these orders were
not obeyed, the soldiers released tear gas into the crowd, ﬁgn'months
later, informants still spoke of this event with great bitterness, holding
that it was not just to throw tear gas at them when they were attempting
to go to work,

The construction of a "man-proof" fence, separating the administrative
buildings from the Japanese residence section was now begun. All Japanese
work'in the administrative section was temporarily suspended, since all
residents were confined to the Japanese section. Within a few days the

Japanese hospital staff and reduced garbage and coal crews resumed work

as a result of a conference between the lilitary and members of the

Japanese Representative Body., The Military, I was told, decided to cut :
the garbage and coal crews to one-third of their former size. Thig created
difficulties for the Japanese Bepresentative Body, which was caught between
the stand of the Military and the attitude of the Japanese residents who did

not understand why some persons were allowed to return to work while others
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were not, Both parties then agreed to hold a mass meeting at which the
Lieutenant Colonel and menbers of the Javanese Representative Body would
speak, each explaining the situation to the residents, When this matter
was put before a session of the Representative Body a factional dispute
arose, certain members holding that the Military was not allowing the
Japencse sufficient time to speak, Despite strong opnosition from
i he chairman of the Revresentative Body the anti-mass meeting
faction swayed the body into voting not to attend the mass meeting.
lessages to this effect were thereunon sent to each block and read in
the mess-halls., The Military was not informed of this decision, 4% the
anvointed time, the Lieutenant Colonecl and the regional director of the
WRA entered the camp with a strong military escort and took their places
on the outdoor stage., o Japanese came to hear them. They delivered
thzir speeches, nonetheless.

On the same day, November 13, the HMilitary declared martial law to
be in effesct. The Military also began to arrest the leaders of the
Representative 3ody, some of whom went into hiding but gave themselves
up voluntarily on December 1, 1943, Other men, suspected of being leaders,
wers arrested., 4 stockade was built to house these detainces,

A}

After the declaration of martial law and the arrest of these leaders

the residents entercd umon a partial strike. In substance, they refused

to return to work until the apprehended men were released. Doctors,
aurses, mess workers, block managers, and the coal and garbage crews
continued to work, he lfilitary continued o make arrests and by mid-
December of 1943 over 200 parsons were confined in the stockade.

For over two months the residents maintained their partial strike.
Eowover, as the wecks passed, the monotony of a life without employment
or recreation, the strict curfew, and the hadships imposed by the loss
of the monthly pay check and clothing allowance markedly decreased the
onthusiasm of the early period of the strike, In mid-December of 1943 a
new group of Japanese leaders arose and with strong assistance from the

WRA adminis tration attempted to influencc the residents to abandon the

nartial strike., In mid-January of 1944 a ballot was arranged and the
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residents voted to stop the strike by a plurality of 473 out of 8,713 votes
cast, The WRA resumed control of the Center, using the new group of leaders,
the Co-ordinating Committee, as a liaison body between the administration
and the residents, Jobs wére quickly filled and evacuees were now allowed
to enter the administrative area with a pass, submitted to the sentry at

the gate,

Twenty days after the referendum vote had been cast I made my first
\

visit to the Tule Lake Center, - It is my opinion that at this time even

conservative residents deeply resented the past policies of the WRA adminis-
tration and that they disliked and distrusted the administrative sponsored
Co-ordinating Committee. Many persons claimed that the members of the
Co~ordinating Committee,were not their elected representatives (as, indeed,
they were not), Some informants called certain of the acts of the former
Representative Body silly, foolish, and radical, but stoutly maintained
that this body had been and still was the legitimate representative body

of the people.

In CI\"’Aarch of 1944, during my sccond visit to Tule Lake, I became aware

of the existence of an underground pressure group. This group spread

propaganda and distributed pamphléts which were designed to discredit the
Co-ordinating Committee., This group also agitated to obtain the release

of the men detained in the stockade., Some of the members, to my certain
knowledge, had relatives who were detained and who were alleged to have
been beaten by the WBA Internal Security on November 4, 1943, It is my
opinion that during February and March of 1944 this underground group was
not regarded with respect by most of the residents, My informants usually
spoke of the group with derogation, calling the members agitators and
radicals. In the spring of 1944 this underground group was considerably
strengthened by the arrival of certain parolees from Santa Fe, the Department
of Justice internment camp. Some of these parolces, I was informed, had
contributed to anti-administrative disturbances in Relocation Centers before
their internment and in my opinion they were agitators of experience and
prestige. In addition the underground group established a connection with
a man who, I was informed, was a powerful gang leader from the Manzanar

Center., This man,




I was told, had led a pre~evacuation gang on Teminal Island, California
and was also credited with having instigated much of the vieolence which
occurred in the Manzanar Center in December of 1942, I was personally

2equainted with this alleged gang leader and in my opinion he was very -slever,

Ee vas,in any case, nover called to task for these alleged activities by

It is my opinion that these eoxpsricnced agitators took control of the
u> to this time rather incept underground group which continued to circulate
propaganda against sho Co-ordinating Committeec and against tho WRA
adninistration, I believe and have data which indicate that they spread
rumors to the offect that the members of the Co-ordinating Committec were

inu (stool-pigeons), Mhat they werc not “true Japaneso

,» and that thoy had
betrayed the people to the WRA administration, They added to the coanstant

strcam of rumors that the members and supporters of the Co-Ordinating

Committee were boing paid larges sums of money by the WRA administration

and that they were making large nrofits in graft at the sxpense of the
rosidents and with the connivance of the administration. The officers of
the Center's Co-oporative Entorvrise, who had substantially supnorted the
Co~ordinating Committoe's political coup were particularly singled out as
inu and grafters par cexccllence,

The Co~ordinating Committoe countored with nropaganda to the offect
that the activities of the underground group werc "un—Japancse" and tha
"srue Jasancse" werc persons who behaved in an orderly mamncr and did not

bring hardship and miscry upon their fellow residonts,

o
pl

_propaganda of the underground group was by far the more effective,

Many of the residents were disgruntled and bored, Probably one-third of
the ompldyablc residents were not given work, since the Contor was so
crowded that jobs woerc not available., The residents, in short, were pre-
disnosed to repeat, and to some extent bolicve, almost any rumor about the
30, Many, however, continucd %o voice disapproval of the underground
agitators,

In April of 1944 the underground group cmerged and adopted the nanme,
Saikaluri Soigan (litoral translation is "Appoal for Resegreation"), This

body will hercafter be called the Roscgrogation Group. The lcaders seont a
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letter signed by an unimportant member of the organization to Attorney
General Biddle, requesting nmermission to circulate a metition for the
signatures of those residents who desired early return to Japan and who,
meanwhile, wished to be separated,in Tule Lake, from those not so inclined.
This letter was channeled to the WRA administration at Tule Lake and per-
mission was given to circulate the petition providing "that the survey will

be nmade without commitment on the part of the administration." I made my

third visit to the Tule Lake Center several days after this petition was

nresented to the people and found the residents in great coafusion, Rumors
nad spread that those persons who did not sign the petition would not

be allowed to expatriate or repatriate. The WRA administration had issued
a statement that it had no intention of carrying out a resegregation and
hat no petition had been authorized, Almost all of my informants ex-
pressed disapproval of the petition., DThey stated that they saw no point

in separating the residents of Tule Lake on the marrow basis of whether

they wers willing to return to Japan on the next exchange boat, 3By

refusing to sign the petition, however, they exposed themselves to the

epithet of "fence-sitter", Almost every infomant stated forcefully that
the fence~sitters ought to get out of Tule Lake but no one admitted that
he might be a fonce-sitter. The Resegregation Group obtained some 6,500
signatures of citizens and aliens, a figure which includes the dopdndents
and ninor children of the signers. In absentia signatures were also
accepted, The relatives of men coafined in the stockade signed for them,
Persons who had signed the petition were thersafter considered members
of the Resegregation Group., Many signers were citizens of the United States,
although the leadership clique, the policy makers, was almost entirely
composed of aliens,

The wife of a leader of the Resegregation Group, made
the following statemont %o me in an interview which took nlace on April 13,
1944. ™Wo're going to stick to Japan, We camiot raise our childron ovor-

' I asked her how the Resegregation

2ight to become Japancss subjects,'
Group proposed to distinguish between those residents who sincercly dosired

to roturn to Japan and those who did not. She said, "Those guys who won't
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say 'Yes' to the petition are the guys who are going to stay here ( in the
United States)." I then asked her what was to be the fate of the thousands
of people who had not signed., She replied, "Those other people —~- they
didn't stick up for us in the crisis., It's not our business to worry about
them, "

In addition to stirring up a great deal of excitement a.nd.. confdsion,
the petition put the harassed Co-ordinating Committee out of existence,

.

The members of this body resigned, telling me that they bitterly resented -

N\
\

the fact that the WRA administration, without consulting them, had recognized
]

their political opponents to the extent of allowing the circulation of the /

petition, Prom this period (late April, 1944) until the end of my stay

in the Center (May, 1945) the Japanese residents of Tule Lake had no formal
representative body which might present community problems to the WRA
administration, The WRA made an attempt to sponsor such a body. The
Resegregation Group vigorously opposed this attempt. Many infomants held
that a person who accepted a position on this proposed representative body
would be called an inu,

The leaders of the Resegregation Group, in my opinion, now turned their
energies to activities calculated to keep the Center in a state of turmoil,
They told me frequently that thereby that would prove to the WRA authorities
in Washington that trouble would not stop until a resegregation took place,

The leaders continued to spread propaganda against the now ex-members of
the Co-~ordinating Committee and other so-called inu, who were usually
individuals who counselled a modicum of co-operation with the administration
a.nd./or criticized the policies of the Resegregation Group, For instance,
a leader of the Resegregation Group ° = told me that Mr, Hitomi, the
general manager of the Co-Operative Enterprise, had attempted to bribe

. the alleged gang leader and Rcscgregationist with, a larps
sunl of money -to .influense : the recently arrived segregees
from the Manzanar Center t jin the Tule Lagke Co-op, This and similar
stories were widely circulated, In this regard it is significant that much
later the Project Attorney, Mr, Noyes, told me that an officer of the Co-op
had made an affidavit to the WRA Internal Security that this 2lleged gamg leader

\ repeatedly threatened the officers of the Co-op, This affidavit was




submitted just prior to the relocation of the affiant,

A series of assaults added to the mounting temsion, Certain men, some

of whom, in my opinion, had opemnly criticized the activities of the Re-~
segregation Group were attacked at night and severely beaten, Mr.VHitomi's
brother was beaten and is said to have suffered a fractured skull, The
wife of a leader of the Resegregation Group bitterly criticized before me a
certain man who was openly protesting against the Japanese drills in which
children were urged to participate. Shortly thereafter, this man was beaten.
Severa_l of the beatings, I was told by informants, were engineered by the
alleged gang leader, Each beating was followed by rumors that the victim
had been an ipu (stool-pigeon). None of the assailants were apprehended ty
the police. On the morning of July 3, 1944, Mr, Hitomi, the General Manager
of the Co-op and an alleged inu, who had been the object of particularly
vicious gossip, some of which, in my opinion, was spread by leaders of the
Resegregation Group was found before the apartment of a relative with his
 throat cut, I was told that the remaining members of the Co-op's Board of

Directors received an @nonymous communication to the effect that they would

be next, The Japanese members of this board resigned in a body. About 15 \

/
of the most notorious inu, including the evacuce chief of police, fled fram //'

the Japanesec section with their families and were given temporary quarters
on the administrative side of the fence, Shortly thercafter, the Japanese-
members of the Internal Security resigned, (Later, after considerable
difficulty, wardens were recruited with the understanding that they were
expected only to keep order in their own blocks.) The residents of the
Center were so frightencd that I was unable to pay visits for several wecks,
Several informants requested that I never call on them again,

The WRA Internal Security attcmpted to apprehond thesc assailants,
They could accomplish little, however, against the tremendous fear of being
stigmatized as an inu,

Prom this point forward many of my informants began cmphatically to
cxpress dissatisfaction over the lawlessncss and, as some termed it, the

gangsterism and hoodlumism which prevailed in the Center, Bepeatecdly, they
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voiced the desire that they might get some peace and order., No onc, however,

dared to state that somconc ought to inform to the administration. The
oo R A | I e e el P LB SRR b T

following statemcnts arc tyjplcal¢
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July 24, 1944: an Isgei:

"In this camp no really able man will show his face because so many
narrow minded fanatics are in camp.....Even your safety cannot be guarantedd.
«...These agitators think that by making trouble here they are d&oing good
for Japan, That's extremely wrong,"

On July 19, a Kibei girl, a teacher in one of the Japanese language
schools, made the following statement:

"My students are asking me, 'Sensei (teacher)', they say, 'What would
you think if I got leave clearance and got out of here?'....They say:

'Gee whiz, what's going to happen to us?' "

On July 13, 1944 the project newspaper, the Newell Star, published a
statement explaining that the Congress of the United States had passed a
law which provided that a citizen of the United States might make a formal
written recnunciation of nationality. No informant commented upon this
statement in the month that followed,

On August 12, however, the Resegregation Group leaders organized a

young men's group ostensibly devoted to the study of Japancse history and

culture (the Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen~dan, herecafter called the Young Men's
Fatherland Group). Among the formal aims of this young men's group, which,
to my knowledge, were not at this timec publicized among the general residents
was the following statement:

"Since the outbreak of war between Japan and America, citizens of
Japanese ancestry have moved along two separate paths: (1) for the defense
of their civil rights on legal principles, and (2) for the renunciation of
their citizenship on moral principles,”

Two prominent leaders of thc Resegregation Group were the advisors to
the Young Men's Fatherland Group, but this fact was at first carefully
concealed from the WRA administration and, so far as I was able to determine,
from the general residents. In fact, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
until Scptember 24, 1944, the connection of this group with the Resegregation
Group was very carefully concealed from both the Administration and the

residents, The first meeting of this organization was held in the high

school auditorium with thc permission of the WRA, Some of my informants
T L

statcd that they believed the contention that this organization had no

political aims and joined it. In my opinion, they were telling the truth,
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for in November of 1944, they attempted to withdraw. A few expressed suspicion
of the leaders, Within a few weeks, the organization claimed some 600 memhers,

most of whom were citizens,

This organization obtained office space from the WRA., Frequent meetings
T -

were scheduled for its members, As the weeks passed, the speeched delivered

at these meetings took on an increasingly Japanese nationar,lij_stv_irc tone, Out-
door exercises which took place befor;m;;;wwere made compulsory for members, -
Gradually these exercises became more militaristic, Week by weck additional
militaristic features were added. Bugles were purchased.. By latc November

of 1944 members were wearing uniforms consisting of a sweat shirt bearing

the emblem of the rising sun even when they entered the administrative area,

They were also required to shave their heads in imitation of Japanese

soldiers,

On October 30, the Issei advisor to this organization explained its

aims to mes;

"If we were training in open daylight, it will not impress the people
much, ...But by getting up carly in the morning, by exercise and training
after worshipping and praying for victory and eternal life for our soldiers,
these young people can be deeply impressed,"

On August 30, the WRA administration called certain of the leaders of
the Resegregation Group into conference and gave them a letter written by
Mr, Dillon Myer which was dated July 7. This vletter denied any administra-
tive intention of a resegregation. The leaders of the Resegregation Group
did not announce this administrative denial to the members of their group.
Instead, without the knowledge of the administration, they mimeographed
Mr, Myer's letter and distributed it widely, mistrandating the last para-
graph as follows:

"However, I am sure that all problems in the Tule Lake 8egregation
center that need attention and improvement will be studied and remedied in
consultation with the representatives of the Resegregation Group....Needless
to say, I am sure Director Best will be glad to discuss frankly with you the
question of resegregation about which your representatives have communicated, .

It is my opinion that by mid-August of 1944, the leaders of the Resegre—

gation Group, whese plans for a resegregation were not going very well, were
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giving the political potentialities of the renunciation of citizenship much
thought, These leaders fregquently brought the topic up in conversation
with me, The following statements are typical,

On August 28, - ° the wife of a leader stated:

Mo fisure that something will have to be done (by the Administration)
in September, That's when the denunciation (not mis~spelling) will come
through, If we stay here as we are another trouble (uprising) is going to
come Up....We've been tolerant enough about the school (Americen school)
here, "

On September 7, the Issed adviser te the Young Menhs Fatherland Goeup
gspoaking of the proposed renunciétion, stated te me:

"fe don't know how far this will go. 3But certainlﬁ those who wish for
immedinte-repatriation to Japan and at the same time don't wish to be in-
ducted into service or relocate wish to renounce their citizenship."

Despite the fact that the leaders of the Resegregation Group had on
August 30 been told by the WRA administration that there was %o be no

resegregatbtim
resegregation, ther, on Set ember 24, 1944, brought forth another/petition.

This petition was accompanied by an explanatory pamphlet in Japanese with
an Bnglish translation appended. A part of this pamphlet stated:

Mfherecas, we realize the uselessness of our -merican Citizenship, and
so as soon as and in the event a law of renounciation for citizenship become
offective, we gladly renounce our citizensiips. Therefore, we make clearly -
our positions by being a real Japanese. Furthermore, we be classified
clearly as an enemy alien and thereby be treated in accordance with the
Genzva Conventions."

I called on . one of the most influential leaders of the

Resegregation Group, on September 21, three days before the petition was

circulated, He showed me the pamphlet and made the following statement,

which I recorded verbatim:

Wou know the people behind this have been working underground for a
long time, Anyone who would have come out openly would have been put in
the stockada. We have been working on this since April, awaiting the moment,

but we had to keep it secret, Now the time has come,
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"If the Administration recognizes this movement, we will have a good

matual understanding, Besides, Mr, Myer sent us a letter and recognized

this novement.

"Those who refuse to sign this will have people asking them, 'Are you

loyal to Japan or not? If you are not loyal to Japan, why don't you go

out?' The people will have to realize this == as long as their appearance

is Japanese they will have to sign this, If they don't sign they will
be known as n0t loyal to Japan and will be told in public, 'You are not
Japanese, Why don't you go outl!?

"Of course, many people who don't want to go back to Japan will sign
this, But then they will zo in a corner and keep quiet.™

On September 27, the WRA administration issued a statement that the
netition was unaunthorized, I data indicate that the Resegregationist
leaders continued their efforts to get signatures., On September 30 & married
cosuple, both infludntial leaders of thes Resegregation Group, exhibited smger
the denial of anthorization, The hmsband asked ms, thatorically, YHow ean you
authority for a petition like thist" He added that the next time his group
"out out something" theyr were going to take the paper to the block manager
beforehand "and he better not say anything®, Hie wife then told me that
the Resegregation Group'had received a letter from Mr, Ennis of the Depart-
ment of Justice, advising them to hold on, that everything was going
smootily” and that they would be notified when the renunciation of citizen-
ship forms were ready. Concerning the plans of the Resegregationists, she
remarked: "We are going ahead even if the people squawk, "

As socn as the petition began to be circulated I attempted to determine
how it was being received by the residents, o informant who was not an
enthusiastic member of the Resegregation Group spoke in favor of it, I am
emphatically of the opinion that the substantial majority of the residents
disapproved of the petition and resented the social pressure applied by its
circulatorss I shall not listiﬁll of the derogatory statementsmade; those
that follow will suffice.

On September 26 an Issei informant stated that he disapproved of the
petition., He added: "I asked one man, 'Why did ;ou sign the paper?' He
said, 'So-and-so said so-and-so and I signed it.'! They (persons who behave
in this manner) don't have any judgment."
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On Scptember 28 an older Nisci informant stated:

"One point I really oppose =— the: threaten to usce foree,...Many pcople
arc wondering whethor they should sign or not, Shoy're afraid, Many are
being led into it, i

"Another thing, I've heard that(the nominsl loader of the Young Men's
Fathorland Group) stated that they had a numbor of killers (in his group).
Why docs he say that?"

On October 2 a malc Kibei informant who lived in a block where many
norbers of the Rescgregation Group also resided, stated:d

"I say, 'Leave mc alonc and I'1l lcave you alonel ' If ¥ foel like
it, I'11 sign. I haven't signed yot.

"I'm Japancsc no matter what they say! Even if we sign or don't sign
it won't do any ham."

On October 12, the sanc informant stated:

"I don't like thc way tho Sokoku Kenkvu (Young Ion's Fatherland Group)

So a lot of dunb pcople signed,..

;g ,”/ threatons people. Thoy say, 'If you don't sign you'rc going to be drafted.’
v
&

"But I think thosc who signed werc wise, I'm too stubborn to sign and

that nakes nmc cnenmiecs., It's better to be like the proverb: Nagai nmono niwa
; okii mono ni H )5 70 — lot the long snakc wind around you;
let the big snake swallow you.

"If I were Project Director I would segregate them. I'd give each-
person a pink paper and a white paper and an envelope. Thon thosc who want
to bc segregated could sign the pink paper and those who didn't could
sign the white one. Then they could mail it to the WRL and nobody sece. ity
Then I'd like to sce how meny would sien! "

At this time I was surprized at the almost unanimous disapproval which
informants who were not leaders
[of the Rescgregation Group - voiced concerning the petition. I was not
surprized that they disapproved but that they cxpressed their sentiments
so frankly, for I am of the opinion that the leaders of the Rescgregation
Group werc feared. I also suspected that some of the persons who spoke
derogatorily of the petition before me were ;igning it nonetheless, for
it was painful to be told in public: "You are not Japanese.™ lorcover, a

runor was widespread in the Center that the Department of Justice was
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going to take over the Tule Lake Conter soon and that when this occurred
thosc persons who had not signed the petition would be forced to leave.
Besides, the WRA admini stration had denied the petition authorization,

As several infommants stated: "To sign it won't do any harm," It is, there-
fore, my considered opinion that at this period (Scptember and October 1544)
a very substantial proportion of the residents disapproved of the activities
of the Resegregation Group, and that they were irked by the demand that
they cormit themselves to an early rcturn to Japan, DMany, however, signed
the petition to be on the safe side whatewer transpired. Without doubt,
however, there were a number of individuals who signed the petition through
the desire for an early return to Japan.

In ny subsequent visits to the leaders of the Resegregation Group, I
was impressed by the fact that though they boasted of the number of signa-
tures they were getting (10,000) they were not pleased by the reception the

setitien was getting from the pecople. Moreover, it is my opinion that certain
residents were beginning to take steps toward an organized resistance,
One of ny infomants, an clderly Issei, told me that he advised persons
who consulted hin not to sign the petition., He also told me that he had
nade a speech before a group of Nisei telling them that nothing would be
gained by naking trouble and that agitation only brought suffering upon
the women and children in camp.

"I said that this camp is no place for young men to make trouble.
They should study. I said, "Young men, behave yourselves.' "

During an interview which took place on October 10, 1944, this informant
denounced the Resegrogationists leaders to me, stating that they were

misleading ‘the youth of the Center. He stated: "I say

the Japanese government is not so narrow minded as you, "
I was concerned for the safety of this informant who, in my opinion,
was showing unusual courage in speaking publicly against the

Resegregation Group, I warned him that one had to be careful what one
Faran oo T L0 b caroiu
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said in camp, for there were dangerous men about, He laughed and called

the Resegregationist leaders cowards., TFive days later, while he was
returning from an evening meeting of his church in the company of two

clderly Issei friends, he and his friends were attacked by a group of

S ———

assailants and beaten severely. When he recovered, he told me:!
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"The three of us were coming home from a religious meeting at block 52.
I heard noisy footsteps, One of my friends was at my side, the other was 15
feet ahead. The first man who was attacked yelled, I turned around and saw
that big stick, I can still see the club like a frozen picture, but I didn't
see anything after that,"

This informant also voiced the opinion that his speech before,the Nisei
had been reported to the Resegregationist headquarters and told me that the
attack upon him had been instigated by one of the advisors of the Young Men's
Fatherland Group, the alleged gang leader, He added that the attack had been

led by an Issci who was known to be the so-called gang leader s rlght hand man.

2 e ————————————————

I wa§"§I€€£ thls 1nfonmat1on after making a promise of strict confidence, My
informant feared that if he testifiecd against his assailants, the gang would
attack his children,

At this time the rumor that another man named Tambara had been threatened
spread widely through thg Center. The wife of the Issei advisor to the
Young Men's Fatherland Group told me: "They wrote him, 'Would you like to be
another Hitomi?'" (Hitomi was the man murdered on July 3, 1944.)

On October 21 the alleged gang leader addressed the members of the
Young Men's Fatherland Group. At this mecting several informants told me that
he incited the young men to violence and promised to take care of them if they
got into trouble, Several informants stated with disapproval that he had quoted
a Japanesc proverb, which like many proverbs, is flexible in interpretatiam.
It may, however, be translated to mean: "To help the cause, we must kill those
who stand in its way." DMost informants translated it: "The little guys must
die so that the big guys may live." They left no doubt in my mind, howeve;:\\
that they believed that the so-called gang leader was threatening persons
who opposed the policies of the Resegregation Group with violence,

I called on this alleged gang leader several times during this neriod and

we:had lengkthly conversations, During my visits his outer office (he was a

block manager) was occupied by several muscular young men., While conversing
-_'—’--—-—a-v
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with him I was obliged to sit so that I faced a large Japanese flag. On

October 23 he told me that during a recent altercation he had had with the
Project Director a group of "70 or 80 boys™ had surrounded the block managets

headquqrters and "demonstrated their offensive spirit,"




On October 30 the aforementioned right hand man of the alleged gang

leader knifed a yox_:vxigw?ﬁsei. I was told by several informants that the father
of the victim had been a Resegregationist, had "found out how rotten they were"
and had publicly criticized the alleged gang leader. The Project Attorney,
Mr, Noyes,told me that the victim gave less and less incriminating evidence
every time he testified in the hearings held by the WRA Internal Security.
The Issei advisor to the Young Men's Fatherland Group accompanied the
defendant to his hearings and his trial before the Modoc County authorities
and vouched for him, The defendant was given a sentence of 90 days. Later,
informants reported that the alleged gang leader and the Issei advdsor were
boasting that this light sentence was evidence that they could protect
their own,

During this period one of my most reliable informants, a Nisei and

" a veteran of World War I, told me that he had been repeatedly threatened
with physical violence because he openly criticized the Resegregation Growp
and the alleged gang lecader. I was on exgcellent terms with this informant
and interviewed him frequently for over a year., In all of this time, he,
to the best of my knowledge, never misinformed me deliberately. I believe,

therefore, that from.mid-October until the end of November 1944, this

informant lived in expectation of a violent physical assault from the
Resegrega}_ipnists. He showed me a black-jack which he carried:;henever
he left his apartment at night, After the beating of my Issei informant
and the knifing, this informant stated that he thought matters had gone
far enough, He thereupon sent a written denunciation of the alleged gang
leader out of the Center to several Japanese friends, with the instruction
that if he were beaten or killed or if he gave the word, this denunciation
was to be given to the Federal Bureau of Investigation, He then informed
the alleged gang leader of this action and stated that if another beating
occurred, he wyuld. denounce him, o more beatings occurred that came to
my attention,' lloreover, shortly thereafter, the alleged gang leader resignéd

his position as advisor to the Young Men's Fatherland Group, a fact which I

checked with leaders of the Resegregation Group.

I affirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief many residents of

the Tulec Lake Center and I myself, believed that one of the advisors to the

@
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Young Men's Fatherland Group led a gang which assaulted persons who criticized
the policies of the Young Men's Fatherland Group and the Resegregation Gromp.

I also affirm that many residents believed that persons who opposed. the

2 Resegregatlon Group were in immediate danger of physical violence from this

- s,

On November 3, 1944, the Resegregation Group and the Young Men's Father-

land Group vigorously sponsored a pretentious ceremony to celebrate the
birthday of the empersr Meiji, Non-members were forbidden to attend this
ceremony. I was invited to attend this ceremony as a guest and did so,
deeming it an opportunity to gain some idea of the numerical strength of the
supporters of the group, Since the participahts stood motionless for over
an hour, I had an excellent opportunity to count them. Approximately 600
members of the Young Men's Fatherland Group were present and approximately
1,800 additional adults and children, This is significent, for the birthday
of the emperor Meiji was considered an important holiday and any member of
the Resegregation Group who did not attend this ceremony could not, in my
opinion, have heen an enthusiastic member, Moreover, if he did not attend
he stood in danger of serious reproof from fellow members.

It is my considered opinion that until December of 1944 the substantial

®

ma,jority of citizens residing in the Tule Lake Center were not markedly

IR

1nteWnunc1atlog of c1t1zenship and dld. not welcome the

opnortunity to. renounce, On August 14, 1944, the first Japanese who was

not infimately connected with the leadership clique of the Resegregation
Group introduced the subject of the renunciation into conversation with me,
Between that date and December 5, when Mr. John L, Burling of the Department
of Justice arrived at the Tule Lake Center, I had 95 interviews with inform-
ants (excluding all interviews with leaders of the Resegregation Group) .

To my certain knowledge some of these informants werec nominal members of the

Resegregation Group. Others werc not, Some 80% of my informants were
citizens, Approximately 60 of these interviews were very extensive, lasting
several hours or an entire afternoon, All of the interviews were informal,
for it was my policy to allow the informant to direct the greater part of

the conversation., Almost invariably, when informants were concerned over

a matter, they introduced the subject into our conversations,
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In the many pages of verbatim data I collected between August 14, 1944

and December 5, 1944, the renunciation of citizenship was mentioned six times

by informang‘ﬂ?o were not leaders of the Resegregation Group, Only one

informant stated that he intended to renounce, This man, an extremely

(

(% reliable informant who was hostile to the Resegregation Group stated that

he intended to renounce because he had committed himself to return to Japan
and would not break his word, On September 4, he stated:

"If there are people who will renounce their citizenship merely to escape
the draft it would be a good thing if the (American) government sent them
first to Japan -- then they'll get drafted there.

"When it comes to a final showdown, I think most of the Nisei will turn
it down (will not renounce)..,.Roughly 60% of the people in camp are citizens,
I think if 50%(of the citizens) renounce thoir citizenship, they'll be
doing good. It may be less, "

On September 26, the Is;ei informant who was later assaulted, stated:

"My common sensc opinion is this: from the Japanesc part, the right
of American citizenship is already denied., So it is not necessary for them
to make formal declaration of denouncing it." ;

It is my opinion that at this period (August 1944 through November 1944)
the attitude of the leaders of the Resegregation Gfoup regarding the
proposed renunciation of citizenship was in marked contrast to that of the
residents who were not members of this group and to many residents who were
nominal members of this group. I believe that the leaders of the Resegre-~
gation Group during the months of October and November 1944 expécted that
the jurisdiction of the Tule Lake Center was soon to be taken over by the
Department of Justice, I believe that they anticipated that an especially
early and enthusiastic eagerness to renounce citizenship would cause the

L members of their group to be recognized by the Department of Justice as

/ individuals particularly worthy of remaining in Tule Lake (under the
Department of Justice) while the "fence-sitters" whom they stigmatized as 7';7
"no% loyal to Japan" would be forced to leave the Center. In fact, they
repeatedly attempted to give me the impression that they were in almost
constant correspondence with the Department of Justice aﬁd I am certain

that they also gave members and residents this impression,
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On October 5, 1944, an enthusiastic member of the Young Men's Fatherland
Group and the Resegregation Group told me that during a conference with
lir, Best, the Project Direetor, the Director had told him that it was almost
a certainty that the Tule Lake Center was going under the Department of
Justice within 60 days. On October 6, the Project Attorney, Mr, Campbell,
told me that the WRA administration was seribusly considering making an
announcement to the Japanese residents that the Tule Lake Center was to be
transferred to the jurisdiction of the Department of Justice. On October 9,
the wife of a leader of the Resegregation Group told me that the petition
of September 24 had 10,000 signatures and added:

Mfe are not going to take any more (signatures) because soon we'll be
under the Justice Department."

On October 10 Mr, Dillon Myer addressed the WRA staff at Tule Lake and
stated according to my notes which are not verbatim that ®he didn't know
to vhom the Tule Lake Center was going to be turned over,"

On October 16 the young Resegregationist who stated that he had had a
conference with lMr, Best, told me:

"If the Justice Department does not take over it would put me in a
tough spot because I made a report to the Resegregation Committee that they
(Justice Department) would take over in 60 days. Mr, Best (the Project
Director) definitely told me that this would take place within a week after
the (presidentiaﬂ election,,..When I made this report to the Resegregation
Committee, they were very happy over it,"

On October 16, an informant who disliked the leaders of the Resegre-
gation Group, and, in my opinion, was repeatedly threatened by them, stated:

///// "The Resegregation Group are bragging throughout the camp that it is

\\\‘ because of them that the camp is going under Justice., I said %o one, 'If

your influence is sgo gréat as that, you could do much more for the Japanese
in other ways.'"

On October 23, the alleged gang leader and advisor to the Young Men's
Fatherland Group told me:

"The people are anxiously awaiting for the denouncement of it (citizen~
ship). lhen lir, Best made the statement that within 60 days the camp would
be under Justice (Department) the people were delighted, We more or less

expect it,"
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I am informed that in the latter part of October 1944 the Department
of Justice began to receive petitions for permission to renounce citizenship
bearing the signatures of many persons and also received requests.for re~
nunciation which were typewritten forms imitating the official forms, Such
forms, I am told, were not accepted.

On December 12, the young Resegregationist who told me that he had

conferred with the Project Director and been told that the Center was soon

to go under the Department of Justice told me:

Miir, Best (the Project Director) double-crossed me again., Mr, Best
told me definitely that typewritten copies (of renunciation forms) would be
sufficient and for me to send in the typewritten copies. I was on the
spot (before the Resegregationists) because I reported this."

On December 9, a young Kibei who resided in a block where the Reseg-
regationist Group was very strong, told me:

"The Sokoku bunch (Young Men's Fatherland Group) want to go (to Japan)
earlier than any of the rest,"

Her husband added:

"'he Sokoku bunch typed their forms on the typewriter so that they
could be the first omes. I told our neighbors that their forms wouldn't
be any good,"

I am strongly of the opinion that the leaders of the Resegregation
Groﬁp were substantially if not emtirely responsible for the aforementioned
petitions and improper forms and that they hoped By; an early renunciation
on the part of their ciﬁizen members to achieve their long sought goal —--
resegregation, I have no information on the manner in which the proposition
to renounce en magse was put before the members. It is probable, however,
that the suggestion was placed before the young men at a meeting or meetings.

Whether this is so or not, it is my opinion that members of the Young

Men's Fatherland Group who, at this time, refused to apply for renunciatio
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of citizenship or spoke agalinst the suggestion stood in danger of phys1ca1

v1olence from members of their own group : and knew that they stood in such

S ————— -

danger, I have no explicit data that such threats were made.

Mr. Burling arrived at the Tule Lake Center on December 5, 1944, I was

told that he had come to initiate the hearings for renunciation of
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citizenship, Several of my informants apparently believed that the fact

that Mr. Burling was calling the leaders of the Resegregation Group and the
Young Men's Fatherland Group to see him indieated that these leaders might
be apprehended and punished,

On December 14 an Issei informant told me:

"I've heard that 18 of the Resegregationists have been called in,

The people first thought they were arrested by the FBI, All of them (the
' people) are pleased, excepting those who are members, of course. They
(non-members) want them to be taken away."

He added:

"The members of the Sokoku (Young Men's Fatherland Group) are narrow
minded. Many of them were sorry after they signed and found out what was
inside., But if they change their signatures, they're scared. So they can't
cancel their signatures, not even if at the same time they didn't want %o
be onc of them,"

h(lg my opinion, this informant was referring to cancellation of member-
ship, not cancellation of renunciation of citizenship applications.)

On December 15 a Nisei informant told me:

"I heard that their (Resegregation Group) leaders were being pulled
in. But we don't discuss those things openly. It isn't healthy,"

I visited a number of the leaders of the Resegregation Group and the

Young Men's Fatherland Group at this time and observed that some of them

appeared frightened by the tone of their hearings with Mr, Burling. The

- —_—

chairman of the Young lMen's Fatherland Group asked me why the first question

Mr. Bur ling asked at the hearings was, "Are you a member of the Sokolcu, "
He expressed the opinion that renunciants should only be questioned on
their desire for renunciation of citizenship. Another member of the Young

Men's Fatherland Group who was present stated: Mfe haven't been influencing

anybody to take out renunciation papers, even though the administration

SR>y

says we have.,"
i
From December 8, 1944, until December 17, the date on which the
residents heard that the Western Defense Command was about to withdraw the

public proclamation and orders of 1943 which had ordered the equusion of

persons of Japanese ancestry from the West Coast, no informant who was not
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an ardent Resegregationist, stated that he intended to renounce his citizenship.
On December 11 a Nisei girl asked me if she would have to renounce her
citizenship in order to go back to Japan. She stated that she was not going

to apply, but added that "there was a big rumor in camp" that those who did

not renounce would not be allowed to go to Japan,

On the same day the chairman of the November 1943 Representative Body,
who did not renounce his citizenship, stated:

"I'm not going to renounce mine. If a man doesn't have Japanese
citizenship and if he renounces it, he'll be without a country....I wouldn't
want to fool this country or evade any obligation to this country by saying
that I wanted to go back to Japan and then stay here."

On December 15, a Nisei girl stated:

"They say it's so hard for you to recnounce your citizenship because
they want to see that you're not avoiding the draft. There's a rumor
going around camp that those who do not renounce citizenship are going to
be drafted...

"I hear a person say yesterday —- a Nisei —- 'You know, I denounced

/  my citizenship and I hated to go to the hearing,'! ‘Why?' I asked, He said:

4

'

tion and I don't want to do that 'Y

ih/ \\ 'I have to say awful things esbout America or they won't give me my renuncia-

I have now described the sociological phenomena in the Tule Lake Center
relevant to the renunciation of citizenship up to the announcement of the
lifting of the exclusion orders. ime the

residents of the Tule Lake Center who were not enthu;i§§§ic members of the
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Resegregation Group or the Young Men's Fatherland Group exhibited no marked

desire to renounce their citizenship., It is my opinion that they did not
e -

welcome the opportunity to renounce and that a substantial majority of the

residents, at this time, had not yet made up their minds whether to return

————

to Japan or not, Yet on December 26, 1944, some 2,000 applications for

renunciation were received by thg‘PgBa;tment of Justice. In January, 1945,

st

3,400 additional app

lications were received. My data indicate and it is my

opinion that the amnouncement of the lifting of the exclusion orders and
the policy followed by the WRA administration and the Department of Justice }

from the middle of December 1944 through January 1945 produced a state of
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mind among the citizen and alien residents of the Tule Lake Center which was
substantially responsible for the majority of applications for renunciatiom,

The paramount reason for renunciation was, in substance, therfear that those
oo AR 0

persons who did not renounce their sitizenship would be forced to relocate.

N =

This phenomenon may be difficult for a person who has not been a

segregee to understand. Certainly, an outsider after reading this document
would be inclined to conclude that a logical person or even one possessing
ordinary common sense ought to have welcomed the opportunity to get out of
Tule Lake, Emphatically, it is my opinion that this was not so, The

segregees had been stigmatized as "disloyal to America™ and as "rioters",

g/They feared that if they took up residence outside the Center they would

meet grave economic hardshxp and dlscrimlnatlon, they feared phys1ca1

4 econom sh discz al
Z v1olence from Caucasians if they relocated; they feared that thelr sons
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would be drafted; parents feared that if they allowed their Nisei children

/%>j' to relocate they would lose touch with them ‘and that they, the parents,

might be obliged to return to Japan alone. The total effect of these

p———c

fears produced a phenomenon which amounted to far more than the sum of its
parts., The residents of Tule Lake had been confined in various Centers
for almost four years., It is my opinion that they were predisposed to fall

into mass anxiety and mass hysteria, conditions which are not accompanied
b ——

by logical or well considered action., If the facts and suggestions presented
above are kept in mind, the events to be related will be easier to understand.
On December 17, 1944 the residents learned of the proposed lifting of
the orders excluding Japanesc from the West Coast., On December 19 the
project newspaper, the Newell Star, announced "that the new system will
permit the great majority of persons of Japanese ancestry to move freely
anywhere in the U, S, that they wish to go." It added that "after January
20 all restrictions will be lifted cxcept in the cases of individuals who
will be specifically and individually notified," On the same day a mimeo-
graphed announcement by Dillon Myer was distributed among the Japanese
residents to the effect that "all relocation centers will be closed within
a period of six months to one year after the revocation of the exclusion
orders." The same day, lr, Best, the Project Director of Tule Lake,

announced to the Japanese residents that "the Tule Lake Center will be
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considered a relocation center and a segregation center for some time to come.
Those whom the Army authorities designate as free to leave here will be in
the same status as residents of a relocation center." The Army Team of same
20 officers began to hold hearings on December 18 or 19. Only male residents

M‘.~‘.
were called to these hearings.
P el SEUTIA

Residenté IﬁOm Ivvisited in the week following the announcement appeared
shocked and surprized, Some expressed anxiety. INo one, however, stated
that he would take advantage of this order and relocate. Instead, a number
of rationalizations were voiced, to the effect that they, as segregees,
would be allowed to remain at Tule Lake. Whem,however, the male residents
were called for their Army hearings, most of them were not given detention
orders, Within a few days it became apparent that segregee status was no
guarantee that they might remain in Tule Lake,

On December 24 a Nisei girl told me that she was worried by the results
of some of the Army hearings to which young men of her acquaintance had gme.
In spite of their pro—Japanese statements, they had not been given detention
orders, On the same day a Nisei boy told me that he had just returned fram
his Army hearing, Ee stated that the soldier had asked him if he wanted to
renounce his citizenship, "So I said I was going to renounce, because I
figured that then I could stay in Tule Lake." He assured me that another
young man of his acquaintance had stated that he tolc the soldier hec was
loyal to Japan and had applied for expatriation but still he was handed a

permit to leave camp, providing he did not go to certain exclusion areas.

The sister of this informant then asked me: "They (WRA) won't force us out,

will they? What can we do after everything we had is sold?,...Our family
might be able to get along if we had a lot of boys, but still that won't do
any good because they'll have to go into the Army,"

On December 19 a Kibei told me:

"Four men in my block were called by the Army, They asked them
questions like, ¥Do you waﬁt to go out or do Zpu want to renounce your
citizenship?!"

Rezlizing the effect that such questions put by Army hearing officers

would have on the Japanese residents, I made several attempts to determine

whether these assertions on the part of my informants were true. Mr. Noyes,

- BB




the WRA Project Attorney told me?

"Best (the Project Director) talked to Army officers about the renun-
ciation and resettlement questions (put by Army officers), When Best
inquired about the significance of asking if the evacuee had applied for
renunciation of citizenship they answered thaf it was instructions from
the Presidio. And they said that they asked about resettlement just to be
humen, "

On December 23, an ardent Resegregationist spoke scornfully of the
fear of people who did not desire to leave Tule Lake:

"Me fence-sitters say they are going to grab on with their hands
(to keep from being forced to relocate). They say, 'Let the others go
first...Then when everything's safe, we'll go,'"

On December 29 a Wisei girl stated:

"Arc they going to kick us out? What good will that do, when we
don't want to get out? ,..We hope that by renouncing citizenship we will
be allowed to stay here, but we are not sure, WRA should inform us of this,"

5 I do not affirm that the Army hearing officers asked residents of
& Tule Lake whether fhey were going to renounce their citizenship or whether
they were going to relocate. I do affirm, that to the best of my know-
ledge and belief, many residents believed that such questions werc asked.
I also affirm that this belief, coupled with the statements issued by the
WRA administration was in large part responsible for the fact that on
December 26, 1944, some 2,000 applications for renunciation of citizenship
were received by the Department of Justice.

On December 27 the officers of the Resegregation Group and the Young
Men's Fatherland Group were removed from Tule Lake to the Department of
Justice Internment camp at Santa Fe. It is my opinion that the relatives
of the interned men and other Resegregationists interpreted or chose to
interpret this internment as the first step in their long awaited project
of a resegregation. Informants stated that relatives of internees were
boasting of the "safe" status of the internees and predicting that within
50 days they would be re-united. The internees would be returned to Tule

Lake while persons who were not members of the Resegregation Group would be

Meicked out"™. A rumor, which had probably existed before, became widespread.
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It held that individuals who had not renounced their citizenship by January
20 would be Mkicked out of camp" or would be @rafted.

On January 2 o Kibei informant told me:

"Mhey (Resegregationists) keep saying that anybody sent to Santa Fe

is taking a step forward to becoming a real Japanese. If this propaganda
takes effect it will cause great trouble....l think the Hoghi-dan (Resegre-
gation Group) undoubtedly has started the rumor that by renouncing citizen-
ship the peopnle will be allowed to stay here at Tule Lake."

On January 3 a Nisei informant stated:

"The people picked up say they're glad, They say we (persons not
interned) are going to be kicked around while they will be safc and sound."

On January 19 an informant told me of a rumor which he said had been
current for several weeks:

"They say all those persons who have not renounced their citizenship
will be kicked out of camp,....Some people are also being told to answer in
a radical way so that their citizenship will be taken away,"

Meanwhile, expressions of anxiety and fear increased in number and
in force, Many residents complained that they had been given no specific
information by the WRA as to who was going to be allowed to stay in Tule Lake.

On January 2 a Nisei informant stated:

"fe wouldn't mind going back to San Francisco if we had everything as
when we left it. We'd jump right out, But we've lost everything.,"”

On January 3 another isei informant stated:

"I don't know what's going to happen to us! It's very confusing.

I think everybody feels that., They don't know what's what yet. In the
first place why do they want to kick us out? It's their fault we camec here.
They can't say, 'We'll give you 25 dollars and coach fare, Get out by such
and such a day,'!

"Since the people have been in camp three years, their funds are
oxhausted, It's all right for people who can afford it."

This informant then added:

"Can people be thrown out even if they renounce their citizenship?"

On January 5 the WRA officials reiterated their intention of getting

all evacuces who were "cleared" out of all the Centers, An official
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pamphlet was distributed throughout the Center in which Mr, Myer reaffirmed
his earlier statement that the prime objective of the WRA was "to restore
the people residing in relocation centers to private life in nomrmal
communities™, It is my opinion that this statement did not reassure the

residents of Tule Lake.

On January 5 an Issei informant stated:

"They (the Japanese) have nothing to depend on,..I don't lmow one
person who wants to go out."

On the same day a Nisei stated:

"My intention is to stay here until I'm forced out."

On January 8 another Iisei infommant stated:

"The people are very much at a loss due to the fact that they can't
make a decision. The WRA officials admit they're in the dark themselves,
They don't know what to do or what it's all about.

"I've got six children and my wife, Also my father and mother. To
go outside you have to have a certain kind of home, If they want me to
go out the least they can do is to give mo some kind of housing and say,
'Now, will you take this?! Instead, they are saying, 'America's going to
help you, So you go out and do what you can.' That's not dependable,

We want some assurance if we're to go out, 3By staying here, I'1l have a
roof over my children's heads and enough to eat, although I don't like
the food.

MMhen the Army came out to ask us to make this decision I told the
Colonel, 'If you set a deadline, I will renounce my citizenship due to the
fact that I have no place to go.'"

On January 9 another Nisei infomant stated:

"Inder the international agreement, they can't kick the aliens out
of camp., That's the reason that so many people are renouncing their
citizenship,"

Mecanwhile, a number of informants who, in my opinion, were influenced
by newspaner reports describing the statements made by certain residents of
California, told me of rumors which were being circulated in the Center,

On January 13, a Uisei stated:

"California is the last place 1'd want to go back to with all I've
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been reading, They say the Army will back us up. But that's only against
mob violence and not against what an individual might do, If some person
beats us up, we can't do anything about it,"

On January 12, another Iisei stated:

"People are saying that some Japanese were killed around Stockton
(California). Reading the papers and considering all other facts, the
people have a feeling of not wanting to return to the Pacific Coast, "

On January 14, another Nisei stated:

"What do they want us to do? Go back to California and get filled
full of lead? I'm going to sit here and watch."

On January 15, another ITisgi stated:

"Rumor is being circulated that five Japanese were killed in Fresno
(Califomia). "

Such rumors and the sentiments which they engeﬁdered endured for many
months, On lMay 8, 1945, a Nisei informant stated:

™eah, you're free all right if you go out. You've got civil rights.
Civil rights to be dynamited! Civil rights to have your head cut off! They're
even trying to take poor Doi's land away from him now, "

This infommant!s sister, who was present, tried to calm him, and

explained to me: "If they had made an example of those soldiers (who

attempted to dynamite Doi's residence in California) it would have helped.,"

On Janmuary 24 lr, Burling released a letter written on behalf of the
Attorney Gencral condemning the activities of the Rescgregation Group,
stating that they "are intolerable" and that they "will cease". One
informant criticized the letter as "sarcastic". One Fisei, who had some
legal training but, to the best of my knowledge, had no connection with
the Resegregation Group or the Young Men's Fatherland Group, remarked:

"The Department of Justice is not sincere, They are hounding people
with a childish mentality and making them act like kids...They've got you
behind the eight ball once you renounce,

"The way these hearings were conducted it seems as if Burling had
the final say of whether to accept a renunciation or not, The law states
that it is the Attorney General who had the final say., As I see it, it's

a frameup, I'd hate to live in this country if Burling was Attorney General,"
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Other informants, however, appeared to be distinctly pleased at the
verbal castigation the Resegregation Groups had received:

On January 27, an informant stated:

"Confidentially speaking.....l think he's got brains in his head, Many

of the people think he did the right thing,...The Department of Justice

really meant business. The people were kind of happy.”

On January 31, another informant stated:

"It sure disgraced many of them (Resegregationists). If they had sheame
enough, they wouldn't have the face to come out with, Ve all agreed that
that ought to have put a stop to it. But it seems it didn't."

On February 8, another infommant stated:

"It was time somebody told them off!......After all, this is American
goil,®

On the same day, another informant stated:

"The people thought, 'That's telling them! '"

The Resegregation Group and the Young Men's Fatherland Group, however,
continued their activities. They also continued to spread propagandd'to
the effect that internment was a badge of honor, that internment made one
a "rue Japancse", and that their group was shortly to be placed "gafely"
in a Center under the Department of Justice, while all other residents
of Tule Lake would be forced to relocate,

On January 29, 1945, a statement by Mr. Dillon liyer was relcased in
the project newspaper that "those who do not wish to leave the (Tule Lake)
Center are not required to do so and may continue to live here or at some
similar center until January 1, 1946", Uy data indicate that this state-
ment did not reassure the residents. Instead, it is my considered opinion

that the six weeks of tonsion, fear, and extreme insecurity brought about

in part by the residents' interpretations of Administrative policies and

the Armmy hearings and, in part, by the internments and the rumors circulated

e
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after the intermnments had, by the end of January 1945, dbrought the residents

to a state bordering on panic, The phenomena of mass hysteria are to so

groat an extent marked by lack of logie that they are difficult to describe
in a document of this nature, I shall offer the following statements made

by informants between January 26, 1945, the date of the second internment,
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until the end of February 1945, On the basis of my intensive study of the
situation, I affirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief, these are
not the statements of a few atypical individuals but that they are a rather

mild representation of the state of mind of the substa.ntial magority of the
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residents. I also affirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief in

these specific statements my informants were telling me the truth, except

vhen they state that the members of the Young Men's Fatherland Group were
glad to be interned, Here, a closer approach to the truth would be, "They
say they are glad to be interned."

On January 29, a Nisei girl told me:

"The Hokoku group (Young lien's Fatherland Group) were all glad to
get sent to Santa Fe, They have this one feeling that now their status
is sure about the draft.”

On January 30, an Issei infommant told me:

Miost people are glad those radicals were picked up....but the
radicals are still stubborn so we better keep quiet. If I should say
what I think in public they (Resegregationists) would say, 'Beat him up! '"

On February 1 a Kibei informant told me that the Young Men's Father-
land Group was going about the camp asking for signatures which would
indicate that members were still loyal to the organization, He said,
"Those who rcfuse to sign they call 'dog'." He added that a friend of

his who had been sched.u.led. for 1nternment and then released feared

physical v1olence fromMembers of the Resegregation Groxxp beca;use he had

not gone to Santa Fe. Mir, Doi came to stay here (at the 1nfomant'
S g R 5

apartment) at flrs'b but I told him to go bhack to block 59, That's what
a man has to do,"

The Kibei's wife added:

"Gec, I hope the day will come when we can go to the laundry and
wash our clothes and not have the Hokoku people glaring at us, "

On February 8, a Nisei woman stated:

Mfhen the so-and-so Hokoku go (to internment) we can't go and say,
Mfe're sorry your son was taken away.' You have to congratulate them!

"I heard some of them (Resegregationists) complimenting a family

whose son was sent., They say they are true Japanese. The man said,
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'Wext trip it will be my son.,'! They (Resegregationists) are just tickled
pink,

"A week ago my husband met a friend who had a bozu hair cut (shaved
head). He said, 'What, are you bogu, too?' !Sh~h-h,'the friend said,
'This is camouﬂage; Otherwise nobody in my block will talk to me,'...,

I hear that in block 74 there are two girls who refused to become members
of the (Resegregationiét's) girl's organization, All the other girls won't
speak to them now,"

On February 13, a Kibei informant stated:

"In the minds of the pecople of tl;c Center has been the general impress—
ion that by going to Santa Fe they'll be recognized as aliens and they

fecl that their renunciation of citizenship is granted. UWhercas if you are

a gentleman cnough to be peaceful and quiet,_w_lgueﬂx}g_g_gig._gggg will not

A
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materiali%é:"

Onerbruary 16, a Kibei girl told me:

Mlany of the parents are trying to make their sons join the Hokoku
(Young lien's Fatherland Group). This is especially in the Manzanar
section. One boy has a duck cut and wears zoot suit clothes. His parents
are trying to make him join the Hokoku. He says, 'Golly, I can't do
that, How would I look in Santa Fet'"

On February 28, a Nisei girl stated:

"I know some poor kids, their parents made them shave their heads...
But they still roll up their jeams to show their Argyle socks (Argyle
socks were, evidently, the height of style for adolescent Nisei), A. lot
of kids say that when they're 18 they'll have to join the Hokoku due to
their parents' pressure and the draft."

On February 28, my most reliable informent, a very blunt man, stated:

"Many Issei and families are forcing their sons to join the Hokoku-den
merely to escape the draft., I told them, when they get back to Japan they
will use some means to keep their sons out of the Japanese Army. They were
surprized to hear me say that,"

In my opinion anxiety and pamic reached a peak in mid-February,
immediately after the inte@ent of February 11, when most of the members

of the Young Men's Fatherland Group were removed from the Center, I was
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assured by several informants that the remaining Resegregationists on
February 12 had held a great rally in the ManZanar section. At this rally,

it was reported, the people had been told that all citizens who were not

members of the Young Men's Fatherla.nd G-roup (whlch of course, implied
renunciation of citizenship) would be drafted by March 1, (At this time
most renunciants who were not members of the Young llen's Fatherland éroup
had r&yet recelved. off1c1a1 noticos that their renunc1at10ns were accepted
by the Att;;%r General 3.% ca.n.not a&“flrm that such a meetlng was held

or that such statements were made. On February 13, however, I received a
letter from a Kibei (dated February 12), part of which follows:

"The condition in the center has been most unsettled because of recent

mass pick—ups (1ntern.ments) The current rumor which in my opinion is

the most vicious has it that unless people (young men, of course) sign up
with the organization, they will be subject to draft by March of this year.
There seems to be a great increase in the membership of said body. The
people are under the impression that if you are a member, then your chance
of renunciation is guaranteed; whereas, if you are not, you just don't know

when you will be able to renounce your citizenship....The result if left

unabated, will not only be tragic but dreadful. I don't know what you are >

able to do, but for justice's sake please take some action,"

On February 13 I consulted my most reliable informant, an older Iisei,
and asked him about these rumors. He stated:

"Those rumors are being heard about the camp. It has a tremendous
effect, People are joining the Hokoku. It's going over like wildfire.

"The people are in a quandary and don't know what to do. They just
follow the mob, I told people who camc to me to ask for advice, 'You are
like a bunch of sheep.'

"I gave those parents hell for being so jittering and not having a mind
of their own, Renunciation is the only idea., Parents want their sons and
daughters to renounce so they can go to Japan with them. It's fantastic
in a Wayees.

"The trouble with most of the Japanese in this camp or in any other
camp is that their mind is not made up. They swing from one side to the ;

other. They will fluctuate,"




On February 19, a Nisei girl stated:
"A week ago the people were in hysterics....They were so excited, They
said, 'The draft papers are right there,...they'll draft us all over camp.'"

On February 13, a well educated and intelligent informmant remarked:

"Sociologically speaking, I wonder if the people have not been tortured

in Elﬁiz_lll.i_r.lii.fﬂrwsn;long ~- all they can think of is what's happening
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right in front of their eyes and they aren't looking forward to the future
at all, None of them think of the fact that the war might end and then
what position would they be int®

When March 1 passed and no residents were drapfted the acute excitement
slowly abated. It was not until March 16, however, that the WRA announced
/ to the residents that those activities in which Resegregationists had taken

part, e.g., parades, drilling, bugling, were unlawful and prohibited.

7 I received relatively little information from informants on how the

renunciation hearings were conducted, Several informants commcnted on

the short time the hearings took; two mentioned that they had been tfeatai

courteously. One informant stated that an acquaintance who had had a
hearing regretted that he felt obliged to make derogatory statemonts about
the United States in order to make sure that he would be granted renun-

ciation. No informant stated or 1mnlled that any klnd of duress was exerted

at the hearings by the hearlng offlcers of the Department of Justlce. ¢ O

is, however, my opinion and belief, that a great many citizens made false
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statemcnts at thelr hearlngs, regardlng thelr loyalty to Japan and to the

Japanese emperor.

—

Much has been said in this document about persons who renounced their
citizenship and almost nothing about those who did not, Undoubtedly, the
substantial majority of persons who did not renounce their citizenship
did so because their ties to the United States were so strong that they
were able to resist the extraordinary sociological and psychological
pressures vhich were brought to bear upon them, It is of interest, however,

that, in my opinion, the most courageous and 0pen.adherents of non-renuncia-

R —

tion were a group of young men who were alleged to be gamblers. ”hese

S ———

young men on two occasions openly defied the Young Men's Fatherland Group,

which had publicly stigmatized them as "gamblers" and "sake-drinkers™,

- 8 -




On December 15, 1944 a group of about a dozen of these alleged gamblers
entered the block where the Young Men's Fatherland Group had its headquarters.
One of the young men challenged the male secretary of the Resegregation Group
and the two men fought with a mop and a piece of wood, while the other so-
called gamblers stood about and held off a crowd of angry Resegregationists,
The non-Resegregationist was victorious and after the fight he addressed

the crowd, denouncing the Resegregationists as "ruining the young men in

the Center," The leaders of the Resegregation Group, in my presence, voiced |

/

threats of extreme physical violence against this group of alleged gamblers

e ———————— vt s

but did not carry out the threats, since the issue was subordinated by the
excitment which followed the internment of December 27, 1944,

I was well acquainted with a number >of these alleged gamblers and,
as far as I know, they did not renounce their citizenship. Their open
defiance of the Resegregation Group was, in my opinion, intimately related

to the fact that even though they were greatly outnumbered, they were, by

the late fall of 1944, the only group in the Center which possessed the

organization and man-power to risk physical combat with the Young Men's
Fatherland Group., In regard to the fact that they did not renounce their
citizenship, it is my opinion that they were hard-headed realists, On
February 5, 1945, when many of my other informants were in a state of
extreme anxiety fearing that their applications for renunciation would not
be accepted, I had a long interview with members of this alleged gambling
clique. They discussed the rénu.nciation with comparative calm, One stated:
"After all, as I see it, my American citizenship isn't anymore good
to me than a i‘oll of toilet paper right now. In fact, it's less good. 3But
I was born with it and I'm not going to give it up. It might come in handy
later."

SUMMARY OF THE MOTIVATIONS WHICH LED TO RENUNCIATION OF OITIZEWSHIP

As a student of anthropology and socioclogy I view the phenomena
relevant to the renunciation of citizenship as a cumulative process which
may be traced back to the evacuation. In the spring of 1942 citizens of

the United States were removed from their homes and confined in relatively

unpleasant surroundings under Military guard., Over a thousand Nisei who
—_—
later renounced their citizenship were between the ages of 14 and 18 ycars /
\\'__,_,_____’__’/M— e —‘___‘_\‘_—- ] V




of age when they were evacuated. In the fall of 1943 over 6,000 citizens
\_‘ RIS e
were segregated to the Tule Lake Center and stigmatized as disloyal to the

United States. Certain of the factors which motivated these persons to

—

become segregees have been stated on pp. 7=8 of this document. There were,
however, a substantial number of citizens who were taken to or remained
in Tule Lake who, at the time of segregation and after segregation, held
status as loyal citizens of the United States. Tq_giiizm_j&gENEesidence

in the Tule Lake'Centcr did not contribute to the development of confidence

Sy

in the United States, to a sense of security in regard to the intentions
i

of the United States, or to a realization of the rights and responsibilities

of American citizenship, is, in my opinion, a distinct understatement. From

?b the early months of 1944, the Resegregation Group, whose leaders affirmed
e LT fanatic loyalty to Japan, was permitted to propagandize the residents
of the Center. In August of 1944 this organization made a deliberate

attempt to draw American citizens residing in the Center into an auxiliary

organization, the Young llen's Fatherland Group, which among its other aims
p ==

—

listed the renunciation of American Citizenship. Mumerous speeches of an

extreme Japanese nationalistic character were delivered to the young men,
They were urged to participate in militaristic exercises. In addition,

the Resegregation Group had within its body a group of terrorists who

repeatedly assaulted residents who criticized their policies and activities.

Only one of these assailants, to my knowledge, was apprchended and punished.

Furthermore, up until December of 1944 no authority at any time substantially

attempted to discourage the Resegregation Group, 1ot until January of 1945

was the group formally reproved by the Department of Justice and not until
March of 1945 did the WRA announce that the activities of this group were
illegal and nrohibited.

In addition to the influences described above, the_residen?iAof

Tule Lake for almost four years had been subjected to the demoralizing effect

of life in the Centers., They had suffered endless annoyances and irrita-

tions, which were all the more grievous because they were thought to be

unjustified, They had been stigmatized by the press as rioters. Certain

= v

grave brutalities were said to have been committed upon Japanese young men

by the WRA Internal Security on the night of Tovember 4, 1943. (I have not




included these specific data in this document, though I have statements
from young men who said they were beaten and statements from a doctor and
a nurses aide who attended them,) The residents, for a long period, had
almost no opportunity for recreation and ﬁany who desired work could not
be given employment. They had almost no contact with any friendly American
of Caucasian anc?stry. Thei;igo;;t¥§; fheyyﬁhéﬁght;whédicast them off and
considered them "disloyal™., In short, for almost four years, their exper-
iences had been of a nature calculated to make them lose faith in America
and blight their conception of the value of American citizenship,

Despite these experiences, I affirm, that to the best of my knowledge

and belief, the very substantial majority of the citizen residents of Tule

—

Lake in Uovember of 1944 4id not welcome the 0pnortun1ty to renounce their

c1t13enship. I affirm that to the best of my knowledge and bellef they
e S ! A B A

were markedly un-enthusiastic, I affimm that the very substantial majority

—————————— .

of residents in Tule Lake had resisted the frenzied efforts of the pro—

Japanese groups to force them to nartlcxpate in pro-Japanese activities,

I affirm that some 1nd1v1duals, who, in my opinion, nossessed great moral

————————

and physical courage, spoke against these pro-Japanese activities and were

brutally assaulted, I affirm that some rash youths still dared to wear
\____,)

their hair in a duck cut and that many young people still passionately

desired to relocate when they could obtaln the permission of their parents.

e L ot i et i o] i . . - -

With a full reallzaxlon of the gravitv of my statcment I who knew these
residents better than any other non-Japanese, affirm that to the best of ny
'kndwledge and belief, the substantial majority of citizen residents of

Tule Lake, despite their detention and despite the extraordinary pressures

e

to wthh they had been subjected, were capable of re—assumlng the duties

——— Saa e

128 s ——

and respon31b111t1es of Amerlcan citizenghip,
It is for the reasons stated above, that the events which followed the
1ifting of the exclusion order, are, in my opinion, peculiarly tragic,

I have, I believe, made it clear that the residents of *ule Lake, owing to

the statements made by the WRA, their interpretation of questions asked

at the Amy hearings, the internments, the rumors which fqllowed the

—— e

1nternments, and the irrational state of m1nd vhich accompanies long

e —————

detention and 1solation, tens1on and insecurity, were thrown into a state
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of panic. Most of them may be compared to a crowd of persons who believe
—

that they are about to be bombed, rush to shelters, and find there officials

whose statements they interpret as "Renounce your citizenship or you cannot

enter." Fear of grave economic hardship, fear of physical violence from

-

hostile citizens of Caucasian ancestry, fear of family separation, the fear

that non~renunciants would be drafted, to which were added tremendous parental
S ——

and familial nressures based on these fears were the major motivations of

renunciation, During the months of Maréh, April, and lMay of 1945, the families
of internees continued to boast of their impending "safety" and to taunt nan-
members and persons who had not ronounced their citizenship with the imminence
of ianvoluntary relocation,

At the time of this panic I was convinced -~ and I so stated to the hearing

officers of the Department of Justice —- that the great majority of residents

were not renouncing their citizenship out of loyalty to Japan, I was also

S——

convinced that very many of the residents did not appreciate the gravity of

their act and later would attempt to get their citizenship back. Many residents
W‘ A A O Tt T W A T P R W 3 . -
assured me, I believe in all sincerity, that renunciation was like the

Military Questionnaire and the Segregation, i.e., they could change their
minds. Some assured me that their hearings before the hearing officers of

the Department of Justice were brief and therefore they were sure that later

on they would be given a longer and more thorough hearing, This was, in
short, not the first time that they had been given a hearing which they
were assured was very grave and which, later on, had signified little,
Indeed, at the time of segregation they were assured by the WRA that they
would be allowed to remain in the Center until the end of the war,

In my opinion, the threat of immediate physical violence from Japancse

residents was a relatively minor motivation toward renunciation of citizen-

ship., I was told frequently that the leaders of the Young lfen's Fatherland

Group had forced people to remounce their citizemship. I have no evidence,

however, that the force referred to implied physical violence. It is my

opinion that members of the Young ilen's Fatherland Group who refused to

renounce their citizenship stood in danger of physical violence and were

aware of this, Certain individuals who lived in blocks where many Reseg-

regatiaﬁists also resided may well have been threatened with violence if

e & -




they did not renounce even though they were not members of the Besegregatﬂ)n

et et T—

Group, During my residence in the Center, I collected no specific data that
such threats were made,

During my residence in the Center no Japanese resident stated or implied

that the hearing officers of the Department of Justice or any member of the
N |k R
WRA administrative staff employed duress at the renunciation hearings to

s

influence residents of Tule Lake to renounce their citizenship,

% @""’”;‘7/‘4 4/ | /s/ ROSALIE HANKEY

(e

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 8th day of January, 1947.

(SEAL) /s/ EDWARD T. DUFFY
Notary Public

My commission expires Oct. 9, 1948




